STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT **RECEIVED**

APR 24 2013

Certiorari to Lexington County

**S.C. Supreme Court**

James W. Johnson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LAWRENCE BURGESS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-194288

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

##

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the judge err in refusing to dismiss the charge based on the fact that a valid agreement did not exist allowing a municipal officer to make an arrest outside of the municipality?
2. Did the judge err in refusing to allow cross examination about disciplinary records of Officer Gilliam when the records constitute evidence of bias and motive to misrepresent pursuant to Rule 608(c)?

## STATEMENT

In May 2006, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Burgess for possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, indictment #2006-GS-32-1425. On October 9, 2007, Burgess proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable James W. Johnson, Jr. Attorney Robert T. Williams Sr. represented Burgess at trial. Attorney Kent Collins prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Johnson sentenced Burgess to 3 years.

A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on October 18, 2007. The direct appeal was perfected and on April 20, 2011, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. State v. Burgess, 393 S.C. 396, 712 S.E.2d 1 (Ct.App. 2011). A petition for rehearing was filed on May 5, 2011. The petition for rehearing was denied on May 26, 2011. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed on August 26, 2011. The State filed a return on November 8, 2011. On December 20, 2012, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

When officers, executing a search warrant, pulled into the yard at 7120 Two Notch Road, in Lexington County, they observed Petitioner Burgess run behind a trailer. (R. p. 94, lines 12 – p. 95, lines 1-4). Petitioner did not live at the location. (R. p. 108, lines 5-6). Officer Gilliam, an officer with the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, testified that there were three trailers on the property and the second trailer belonging to Jerry Richardson was the target of the search warrant. (R. p. 114, lines 9-24). Gilliam testified that as he approached Petitioner, Petitioner dropped a pill container. (R. p. 105, lines 11 – p. 106, lines 1-6). No other officers testified to seeing Petitioner drop the pill container. Another officer, Officer Laney, testified that he back tracked Petitioner's steps and found crack cocaine on the ground. (R. p. 79, lines 9 – p. 80, lines 1-25).

Officer Gilliam testified that Officer Laney found a pill container top next to the crack. (R. p. 107, lines 8-11). Officer Laney, however, testified only to finding the crack on the ground. (R. pp. 75-91). Officer Gilliam testified that the container had crack residue but the State failed to present evidence from the chemist in regard to any residue in the container. (Tr. p. 82, lines 16- p. 83, lines 1-4; Tr. pp. 115-128). Officer Gilliam searched Petitioner and found no drugs. (Tr. p. 20- p. 95, lines 1-2). Petitioner was charged for the 5.67 grams of crack cocaine found on the ground by Officer Laney. Petitioner testified at trial and denied possessing the pill container and dropping it and denied possessing or using any crack cocaine. (R. pp. 133-148).

Prior to trial Petitioner moved to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction arguing that law enforcement had not complied with S.C. Code §23-1-215. (R. pp. 2-16; R. pp. 19-64). Petitioner argued law enforcement had not complied with section (E) of the statute providing for 72 hour notification to the respective governing bodies of the political subdivisions when multi-

jurisdictional drug enforcement unit agreements were entered into and terminated. In the present case, Officer Gilliam, an officer with the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, was acting under the guise of being a member of a multi-jurisdictional drug enforcement unit when he arrested Petitioner outside the city limits of Batesburg-Leesville. (R. p. 199). Petitioner argued that Gilliam was without authority to make the arrest outside of Batesburg-Leesville, the resident jurisdiction, because law enforcement failed to comply with the statute authorizing jurisdiction outside the resident jurisdiction.

The trial judge found that the agreement in question did not comply with S.C. Code §23-1-215 because of failure to comply with the notice requirement. (R. p. 62, lines 23 – p. 63, lines 1-25). The trial judge, however, found that the agreement qualified as a temporary transfer to a multi jurisdictional task force pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-210 and denied the motion to dismiss.

Prior to trial the State objected to the defense cross examining Officer Gilliam about employment disciplinary records. (R. p. 66, lines 3-17). The judge sustained the objection at the time but indicated that the matter could be raised again, if needed. (R. p. 66, lines 22 – p. 67, line 1). Officer Gilliam testified on direct that he was a 13 year law enforcement officer. Based on that testimony, defense counsel moved to be allowed to cross examine the officer about why he was no longer with the NET team (Multi-Agency Narcotics Enforcement Team). (R. p. 110, lines 7-23). The judge denied the defense motion finding that the information in regard to why the officer was no longer with the NET team was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. (R. p. 111, lines 15-21). Defense counsel proffered the records and they were marked as Court's Exhibit # 1. (R. p. 215). The records reflect that Lieutenant Snelgrove of the Lexington County Multi-Agency Narcotics Enforcement Team wrote to Captain Henry Sims of the Batesburg-Leesville police Department and

asked that Officer Gilliam be removed from the NET team based on a specific instance of misconduct and violation of NET team protocol that took place on February 16, 2007. (R. p. 216).

The jury found Burgess guilty of possession with intent to distribute cocaine and the judge sentenced Burgess to 3 years.

## ARGUMENTS

1. The judge erred in refusing to dismiss the charge based on the fact that a valid agreement did not exist allowing a municipal officer to make an arrest outside of the municipality.

Officer Gilliam, a municipal officer with the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, arrested Petitioner Burgess outside of the city limits of Batesburg-Leesville. “The jurisdiction of a municipal police officer, absent statutory authority, generally does not extend beyond the territorial limits of the municipality.” State v. Harris, 299 S.C. 157, 159, 382 S.E.2d 925, 926 (1989). There are exceptions to this general rule. One exception is found in S.C. Code §23-1-210 providing that any municipal or county law enforcement officer may be temporarily transferred or assigned to work within a multi-jurisdictional task force if there is a written agreement between the concerned municipalities or counties. Another exception is found in S.C. Code §23-1-215 providing that where crimes occur in multiple jurisdictions, law enforcement officers are authorized to exercise jurisdiction within other counties or municipalities if there is a written agreement between the law enforcement agencies involved. When law enforcement agencies enter into agreements pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-215, those agencies must provide written notification to their respective governing bodies of the political subdivisions within 72 hours of the agreement’s execution and termination. S.C. Code §23-1-215(E). Another exception is found in S.C. Code §§23-2-10 to -60, the Law Enforcement Assistance and Support Act, authorizing law enforcement agencies to enter into contractual agreements with other law enforcement agencies. S.C. Code §23-2-50 requires formal approval by the governing body of each jurisdiction. See State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 707 S.E.2d 265 (2011).

At the time of Petitioner's arrest, Officer Gilliam was working with the Lexington County Narcotics Enforcement Team [NET]. The NET was created by an agreement titled "Multijurisdictional Drug Enforcement Unit Agreement" and entered into on September 18, 2001. (R. pp. 206-211). The agreement is signed by Sheriff James R. Metts, Ed. D. of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, Chief Wallace Oswald of the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, and various other police chiefs from towns within Lexington County.

It is unclear upon which statutory provision the agreement in the present case is based. The agreement references S.C. Code §§ 17-13-45; 23-1-210; 23-1-215 as well as Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution. (R. pp. 199-200). The trial judge noted:

Looking at the copy of the one of July the 19<sup>th</sup> of 2005, and then at the bottom at the first page it says where section 210 provides the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers pursuant to written agreements. I said, well, it is a 210 agreement. And then you go to the second page and it says, whereas section 210 [it appears this should read 215 rather than 210] provides for agreements between multiple law enforcement jurisdictions. So, I said maybe it is a 215 agreement. And then it goes on to the constitutional provision and it even cites 17-13-45, so I guess maybe the intent was to make an agreement that comes under all of those although I don't think that you can do that.

(R. p. 64, lines 9-20).

At trial Petitioner first moved to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction arguing that law enforcement had not complied with S.C. Code §23-1-215. (R. pp. 2-16; R. pp. 19-64). As noted above, S.C. Code §23-1-215, provides authorization for officers to exercise jurisdiction outside of the resident jurisdiction when there is a written agreement between the law enforcement agencies. Pursuant to §23-1-215(E), the respective governing bodies of the political subdivisions must be notified in writing within 72 hours of the execution and termination of the agreements entered into by the respective law enforcement agencies. Petitioner argued law enforcement had not complied

with section (E) of the statute providing for 72 hour notification to the respective governing bodies of the political subdivisions when multi-jurisdictional drug enforcement unit agreements were entered into and terminated. The trial judge correctly found that the agreement in question did not comply with S.C. Code §23-1-215 because of failure to comply with the notice requirement. (R. p. 62, lines 23 – p. 63, lines 1-25).

The State then argued that the agreement was valid pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-210. S.C. Code §23-1-210 provides for the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers to work within multi jurisdictional task forces. Pursuant to §23-1-210(B), prior to the temporary transfer, “the concerned municipalities or counties shall enter into written agreements stating the conditions and terms of the temporary employment of officers to be transferred or assigned.”

Burgess first argued that the agreement was not a “210 agreement” because Gilliam was not temporarily transferred but rather he was involved in an investigation focused on a case and location. (R. p. 58, lines 4-23). Burgess also argued that the agreement was not a “210 agreement” because “210 agreements” must be signed by council members. (R. p. 58, lines 11-23). As noted, the agreement in question was signed by the Chief Wallace Oswald of the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, Sheriff James Metts of the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department and other participating law enforcement agencies. (R. p. 199). The agreement was not signed by a mayor or any city or county council member, as required by S.C. Code §23-1-210(B).

In ruling, the judge acknowledged that a “210 agreement” requires the concerned municipalities and counties enter into written agreements. (R. p. 63, lines 25- p. 64, lines 1-7). The judge found, however, that, “. . . [T]here is nothing in here, nothing that I am aware of that would prohibit either a county or a municipality or a town from authorizing in some way the chief of police or the sheriff to enter into such agreements.” (R. p. 64, lines 3-7). The judge erred. The

statute requires written agreements between the concerned municipalities and counties and makes no provision for allowing law enforcement to enter into these agreements. Agreements between law enforcement agencies is governed by §23-1-215. The notice requirement of §23-1-215, however, was not satisfied in the present case. The agreement was not properly executed pursuant to either §23-1-210 or §23-1-215. Officer Gilliam lacked the statutory authority to arrest Burgess outside the city limits of Batesburg-Leesville because the agreement did not comply with either applicable statute.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals found that the agreement was valid pursuant to §23-1-210. State v. Burgess, 393 S.C. 396, 712 S.E.2d 1, 5 (Ct.App. 2011). The Court of Appeals found that the “concerned municipalities and county entered into a written agreement to create multi jurisdictional law enforcement authority.” Burgess, 393 S.C. at 402, 712 S.E.2d at 4. The Court of Appeals wrote, “The Batesburg/Leesville police chief informed the town council of the agreement *before its execution*, and the council gave him the authority to enter into it.” Burgess, 393 S.C. at 402, 712 S.E.2d at 4. The Court of Appeals erred. The only evidence of council giving the police chief the authority to enter into the multi-jurisdictional agreement, on behalf of the city, comes from the testimony of one individual council member. (R. p. 40, lines 17-24). The State asked Marguerite Crapps, the Batesburg/Leesville mayor pro tem, “Was Batesburg/Leesville City council on board with the Chief of Police, enter into this agreement on the behalf of town council of Batesburg/Leesville?” (R. p. 40, lines 17-19). Ms. Crapps responded, “Yes.” (R. p. 40, line 20). The State then asked, “So, you are fully aware you had the advice, Chief Wallace, the advice and consent to enter into this agreement of town council?” (R. p. 40, lines 21-23). Ms. Crapps responded, “Yes.” The State presented no written verification that the Batesburg/Leesville town council authorized the Chief of Police to enter into the agreement of behalf of the council. As for

the County of Lexington, the State introduced minutes from county council meetings where the multijurisdictional task force is mentioned (State's Exhibit #1 – R. pp. 194-198), but there is no mention of the County authorizing Sheriff Metts to enter into the agreement on behalf of the County. Both the Batesburg/Leesville town council and the Lexington County Council may have believed that the agreements were entered pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-215, as an agreement between law enforcement agencies rather than §23-1-210, an agreement between the concerned municipalities and county.

The police chief entering into the agreement is simply not authorized by section 23-1-210. The agreement in question was signed by Chief Wallace Oswald of the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department and Lexington County Sheriff James Metts. The agreement in the present case was between law enforcement agencies as provided in S.C. Code §23-1-215. The trial judge, however, correctly found that that the agreement pursuant to which Gilliam was acting did not comply with S.C. Code §23-1-215 because of failure to comply with the notice requirement. (R. p. 62, lines 23 – p. 63, lines 1-25). In declaring the agreement a “210 agreement” the trial judge attempted to make the agreement something it is not. The judge was in effect attempting to place a square agreement into a round statutory hole. Officer Gilliam lacked jurisdiction to arrest Petitioner outside the city limits of Batesburg-Leesville because a valid agreement was not in effect at the time of the arrest.

In both the final brief of respondent and the return to the petition for writ of certiorari, the State argues that the NET agreement is valid pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-215 because the respective governing bodies, Batesburg-Leesville Town Council and Lexington County Council had actual notice of the NET agreement. (Return pp. 10-12). The trial judge correctly ruled that the NET agreement in question did not comply with S.C. Code §23-1-215 because of failure to comply with the notice requirement. (R. p. 62, lines 23 – p. 63, lines 1-25). The State did not appeal this

ruling. Any challenge to the trial judge's ruling in regard to S.C. Code §23-1-215 is not preserved for appellate review. The Court of Appeals did not address whether the NET agreement is valid pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-215 because the Court of Appeals found the NET agreement valid pursuant to S.C. Code §23-1-210. State v. Burgess, 393 S.C. 396, 712 S.E.2d 1, 5 (Ct.App. 2011).

Assuming the issue in regard to S.C. Code §23-1-215 is preserved for review, first, the applicability of the code section to the present facts is questionable. S.C. Code §23-1-215 provides, "In the event of a crime or crimes that have occurred where multiple jurisdictions, either county or municipal, are involved . . ." There is no evidence that the crime alleged, possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, occurred in multiple jurisdictions. Second, actual notice does not meet the written timely notification requirement of S.C. Code §23-1-215.

S.C. Code §23-1-215(E) provides, "The respective governing bodies of the political subdivision, wherein each of the law enforcement agencies entering into the agreement authorized in subsection (A) is located, must be notified by its agency of the agreement's execution and termination. The notification must be in writing and accomplished within seventy-two hours of the agreement's execution and within seventy-two hours of the agreement's termination." In ruling that the NET agreement failed to comply with S.C. Code §23-1-215(E) the trial judge stated:

And the only two code sections, quite honestly that I was looking at, 23-1-210 and 23-1-215. 215 specifically authorizes such agreements to be entered into by the law enforcement agencies that are involved. The State has argued that essentially, Judge, pay attention to subsections (A), (B), (C) and (D) but disregard subsection (E) which is the written notification within 72 hours. And I think there is a huge difference between this and return of a search warrant. This is changing jurisdiction which is about important as you can get under the criminal justice field and I don't think it can be ignored. I don't write the things, I don't look to see whether I agree with them or disagree with them and I am sure some folks would think that is a mere technicality that does not have to be complied with. I disagree and if this is a 215 agreement there has been

absolutely no evidence that the last sentence, notification must be in writing and accomplished within 72 hours of the agreements termination has been complied with. So, it does not pass on that.

(R. p. 63, lines 5-25).

During the hearing, Batesburg/Leesville mayor pro tem verified that while council had copies of the NET agreement, no written notification was provided. (R. p. 42, line 22 – p. 43, lines 1-11). While actual notice is sufficient to satisfy the notice requirement for sentence enhancement pursuant to the recidivist statute, the statute in question in the present case deals with territorial jurisdiction and whether the statute authorizes a municipal officer to arrest outside of the city limits. The trial judge correctly noted the importance of territorial jurisdiction. (R. p. 63, lines 12-16). In State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 602, 707 S.E.2d 265 270 (2011), a case discussed below and addressing the validity of a multi-jurisdictional agreement in light of the requirements of S.C. Code §23-20-50, this Court wrote, “Taking into account the significance of territorial jurisdiction, we believe a more stringent approach needs to be followed in order to confer this type of authority.” The actual notice holdings of James v. State, 372 S.C. 287, 641 S.E.2d 899 (2007) and State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 526 S.E.2d 709 (2000) dealing with notice for purposes of the recidivist statute are inapplicable to statutes dealing with territorial jurisdiction and requiring “a more stringent approach.”

The written NET agreement was not between the town of Batesburg-Leesville and the County of Lexington, as required by §23-1-210. The testimony in the present case from the single town council member as to the police chief’s authority to enter into the multi-jurisdictional agreement does not constitute a written agreement between concerned municipalities and the county as required by section 23-1-210. Municipal Officer Gilliam was not authorized to arrest Petitioner

outside the city limits because there was not a valid agreement in place to authorize the arrest outside of the city limits.

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