**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

JUN 19 2013

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal From Lexington County  
James W. Johnson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2011-194288

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LAWRENCE BURGESS,

Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DEBORAH R. J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The Court of Appeals properly concluded there was a valid multi-jurisdictional agreement between Lexington County and the Town of Batesburg-Leesville, and Petitioner's arrest occurred pursuant to that agreement.**

Burgess contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming his conviction because Gilliam did not have authority to arrest him outside the Batesburg-Leesville town limits. He asserts the NET Agreement was not valid under either §23-1-210 or §23-1-215, because the Batesburg-Leesville Chief of Police was not authorized to sign the NET Agreement, and there was no evidence the governing authorities received written notice of the NET Agreement within seventy-two hours of when it was executed. He further asserts the Court of Appeals erred in distinguishing this case from State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 707 S.E.2d 265 (2011).

### **A. Section 23-2-210**

Title 23 of the South Carolina Code is entitled "Law Enforcement and Public Safety." Section 23-1-210 is in the "General Provisions" section of Title 23, and is entitled "Temporary transfer of law enforcement officer; written agreement; compensation."

Prior to 2007, it provided:

A) Any municipal or county law enforcement officer may be transferred on a temporary basis to work in law enforcement in any other municipality or county in this State under the conditions set forth in this section, and when so transferred shall have all powers and authority of a law enforcement officer employed by the jurisdiction to which he is transferred.

(B) Prior to any transfer as authorized in subsection (A), the concerned municipalities or counties shall enter into written agreements stating the conditions and terms of the temporary employment of officers to be transferred.

A 2007 amendment to subsection A specifically authorizes temporary assignments to

“multijurisdictional (sic) task forces established for the mutual aid and benefit of the participating jurisdictions.” S.C. Code §23-1-210(A) (Supp 2012).<sup>2</sup>

The NET Agreement in this case was originally executed in September 2001, and specifically references §23-1-210.<sup>3</sup> It further expressly provides that each party will designate officers to perform duties under the NET Agreement, with the parties retaining all liability for assigned officers’ actions, compensation and other benefits. (R., p. 157).

Burgess contends the NET Agreement is not valid under §23-1-210 because it was signed by the chief officers of the participating law enforcement agencies rather than their governing bodies.<sup>4</sup> As the circuit court found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, nothing in §23-1-210 prohibits a participating county or municipality from authorizing the sheriff or police chief to enter into an agreement under the statute.<sup>5</sup> (Appendix, p. 6). If, as in this case, the governing bodies have actual notice of the agreement and its terms, the chief law enforcement officers are the logical individuals to execute the agreement on behalf of the county or municipality.

Burgess further asserts the State failed to present any evidence Batesburg-Leesville

---

<sup>2</sup>The relevant history of §§23-1-210 and 23-1-215 is discussed in more detail below.

<sup>3</sup>The NET Agreement was amended in May 2002 and July 2005 to add other law enforcement agencies to the NET, but the substantive provisions remained the same. (R., pp. 157).

<sup>4</sup>Burgess also argued in the circuit court and Court of Appeals that his arrest was invalid because Gilliam was not “temporarily” assigned to the NET, but has abandoned that contention before this Court.

<sup>5</sup>Contrary to Burgess’ assertion that council members must execute a §23-1-210 agreement, §23-1-210 does not require particular signees to an agreement, merely that a written agreement exist.

gave the Chief of Police authority to enter into such agreements. This assertion is simply wrong. The Batesburg-Leesville Mayor *Pro Tem* specifically testified the Town Council authorized the Chief to execute the NET Agreement on behalf of the town. (R., pp. 29, 33). Therefore, his actual authority to do so is undisputed.

Burgess' contention the agreement is not a valid §23-1-210 agreement between Lexington County and Batesburg-Leesville because they are not the "parties" to the agreement is disingenuous. The agreement provides each "party" remains liable for all compensation, insurance coverage, benefits, bonds, and the "acts and omissions" of their officers assigned to the NET. Lexington County and Batesburg-Leesville fund, and are responsible for, the operations of their respective law enforcement agencies, and therefore, they are necessarily "parties" for purposes of the NET agreement.

The 2007 amendment to §23-1-210(A) is particularly relevant in this case because it specifically authorizes multi-jurisdictional task force agreements. The Legislature's express inclusion of the task force language in the statute clearly evidences the legislative intent that §23-1-210 govern task force agreements such as the NET Agreement at issue in this case.

**Section 23-1-215**

By way of additional sustaining ground, the State submits the NET Agreement is also valid under §23-1-215, which expressly authorizes agreements between multiple law

enforcement jurisdictions for purposes of criminal investigations.<sup>6</sup> The statute provides in pertinent part:

(A) In the event of a crime where multiple jurisdictions, either county or municipal, are involved, law enforcement officers are authorized to exercise jurisdiction within other counties or municipalities for the purpose of criminal investigation only if a written agreement between or among the law enforcement agencies involved has been executed.

\*\*\*\*\*

(E) The respective governing bodies of the political subdivisions, wherein each of the law enforcement agencies entering into the agreement authorized in subsection (A) is located, must be notified by its agency of the agreement's execution and termination. The notification must be in writing and accomplished within seventy-two hours of the agreement's execution and within seventy-two hours of the agreement's termination.

§23-1-215 (A) and (E).

On its face, §23-1-215(E) is a notice statute. Under such statutes, the law only requires actual notice. James v. State, 372 S.C. 287, 641 S.E.2d 899, 902 (2007) (citing State v. Washington, 338 S.C. 392, 526 S.E.2d 709 [2000]) (actual notice sufficient to satisfy recidivist statute written notice requirement for sentence enhancement).

Burgess asserts the NET Agreement was not valid under §23-1-215 because there was no evidence the governing bodies of Lexington County and Batesburg-Leesville received "written" notice as required by §23--215(E). It is undisputed both the Lexington

---

<sup>6</sup>For the first time in this appeal, Burgess asserts the State failed to preserve this issue because it did not appeal the circuit court ruling that the NET Agreement was not valid under §23-1-215, or ask the Court of Appeals to rule on the issue. Since the preservation issue was not raised in the Court of Appeals, either by way of brief or petition for rehearing, it is not properly before this Court. In any event, the State properly asserted the issue as an additional sustaining ground in both the Final Brief of Respondent and the Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari. See I'ON, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722-724 (2000) (discussion and clarification of additional sustaining ground rules). Therefore, the issue is properly before this Court.

County Council and the Batesburg-Leesville Town Council had actual notice of the NET Agreement, and approved their respective law enforcement agencies' participation in the NET.

The Lexington County Council allocated funds to support the NET, and authorized the sheriff to apply for grants for further support, including funding for two assistant solicitors to handle the increase in drug prosecutions. The Batesburg-Leesville Mayor *Pro Tem* testified the Town Council knew about the NET Agreement before it was executed, authorized the Police Chief to sign it, and had copies of the executed NET Agreement, including all addendums, in its records.<sup>7</sup>

In the face of undisputed evidence the governing bodies knew about and approved the NET Agreement, invalidating it in the absence of a written document specifically stating it was "notice" to those bodies, truly elevates form over substance, and is contrary to well established law regarding notice requirements. *See State v. Bonneau*, 276 S.C. 122, 276 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1981) (reversing for a new trial when an alternate juror was briefly in the jury room after the jury charge would substitute form over substance and necessitate a new trial based on the flimsiest of technicalities). Therefore, §23-1-215 provides an additional basis to uphold the validity of the NET Agreement in this case.

**State v. Boswell**

Apparently conceding the governing bodies had actual notice of the NET Agreement, Burgess, contends the Boswell analysis mandates strict compliance with the seventy-two hour written notice requirement of §23-1-215(E). His reliance on Boswell is

---

<sup>7</sup>Council's possession of the executed documents clearly evidences it received "written," as well as actual, notice of the NET Agreement.

misplaced.

Initially, the Boswell analysis centered on S.C. Code §23-20-50(A) (2007), which was not asserted before either the circuit court or the Court of Appeals as a basis for invalidating the NET Agreement, and therefore, is not an issue in this case. Further, as the Court of Appeals found, this case is clearly distinguishable from the Boswell case.

In 1981, the Legislature enacted §23-1-210, authorizing written agreements between municipalities or counties for the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers. 1981 Act No. 109, §1. As discussed above, the Legislature amended this section in 2007 to specifically provide for the temporary assignment of officers “to work in law enforcement within multijurisdictional (sic) task forces established for the mutual aid and benefit of the participating jurisdictions.” 2007 Act. No. 3, §1. Thus, the Legislature clearly intended §23-1-210 to encompass the exact type of multi-jurisdictional agreement at issue in this case.

In addition to §23-1-210, the Legislature enacted §23-1-215 in 1987, authorizing law enforcement officers to exercise jurisdiction within other municipalities or counties for the purpose of criminal investigations pursuant to written agreements between law enforcement agencies. 1987 Act. No. 107, §1. This section authorizes agreements between multiple law enforcement agencies for drug enforcement purposes. 1994 Atty Gen. Op. No. 94-38.

In 2000, the Legislature enacted the “Law Enforcement Assistance and Support Act” (the “LEAS Act”). S.C. Code §§23-20-10 (2007). The purpose of the LEAS Act is to authorize contractual agreements between law enforcement agencies “for the proper and prudent exercise of public safety functions,” including “traditional public safety activities

which are performed over a specified time period for **patrol services, crowd control and traffic control, and other emergency service situations.**” S.C. Code §23-20-30(A) (2007) (emphasis added). On its face, the LEAS Act contemplates assistance agreements for traditional law enforcement activities during specific situations, rather than on-going criminal investigations transcending jurisdictional boundaries.

Significantly, the Legislature specifically provided that nothing in the LEAS Act “may be construed to alter, amend, or affect any rights, duties, or responsibilities of law enforcement authorities established by South Carolina’s constitutional or **statutory laws** . . . , except as expressly provided for **in this chapter.**” S.C. Code §23-20-30(B) (2007) (emphasis added). Therefore, by its clear and unambiguous terms, the LEAS Act does **not** apply to agreements authorized by other statutes, including §§23-1-210 and 23-1-215.

The agreement at issue in Boswell provided for “mutual aid in the event of natural disaster, disorder, or other emergency situations.”<sup>8</sup> It further expressly provided the agreement “shall not repeal or supersede any existing agreements . . . concerning the exchange and utilization of narcotics investigators.” Thus, the Boswell agreement was more in the nature of agreements encompassed within the LEAS Act for assistance in specific situations involving public safety, rather than formation of a multi-jurisdictional task force for continuing investigations of particular types of crimes (i.e., narcotics violations). See Burgess, Appendix, pp. 6-7, n. 5 (§23-1-210 authorizes temporary transfer of officers under different circumstances than those contemplated by the LEAS Act).

---

<sup>8</sup>The State asks the Court to take judicial notice of the agreement at issue in Boswell, as found at pages 297-301 of the State v. Boswell Record on Appeal.

In addition to the clear legal distinctions, this case is factually distinguishable from Boswell. This Court found the agreement at issue in Boswell contemplated employment of officers from adjacent jurisdictions only in emergency situations or when specifically requested, and officers from the requesting and sending agencies were intended to work simultaneously. Significantly, the Court then found none of the “specific facts” of the Boswell case met the agreement requirements. 707 S.E.2d at 271.

As discussed above, the NET Agreement at issue in this case expressly encompassed “mutual assistance in criminal narcotics investigations by the continuation and operation of a multijurisdictional (sic) task force within Lexington County.” Nothing in the NET Agreement contemplated emergency situations, or required officers assigned to the NET to work “simultaneously” with other assigned officers.

Further, in Boswell, Lexington County deputies arrested the defendant in Calhoun County, with no Calhoun County deputies present at the time of the arrest. 707 S.E.2d at 271. In this case, however, Burgess’ arrest occurred in Lexington County, Lexington County deputies were on scene at all times, one or more Lexington County deputies participated in Burgess’ arrest, and all the evidence seized in connection with Burgess’ arrest was transported to the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department evidence room. (R., pp. 62-96, 103-110). Therefore, even if the NET Agreement did contemplate that officers work “simultaneously,” they did so in this case.

The NET Agreement is valid under §23-1-210 and §23-1-215, and the LEAS Act does not apply. The circuit court and the Court of Appeals properly found the NET Agreement was valid, and Gilliam had full authority to arrest Burgess on March 2, 2006. Accordingly, Burgess’ arrest was valid, and his conviction should be affirmed.

**II. The Court of Appeals properly found the record supported the circuit court's exclusion of evidence regarding the arresting officer's removal from the NET in 2007.**

Burgess contends the circuit abused its discretion in excluding evidence relating to Gilliam's removal from the NET in 2007. He asserts the information constituted evidence of bias and motive to misrepresent.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court's sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006); State v. Jackson, 681 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2009). There was no abuse of discretion in this case.

Burgess grossly overstates the contents and implications of the records at issue. At most, the records Burgess proffered indicate Gilliam disagreed with another NET officer about the reliability of a confidential informant over a year **after** Burgess' arrest, he was not a team player, and his attitude made it difficult for other members of the team to work with him.<sup>9</sup> (R., pp. 173-179). Nothing in the records indicates the disputed confidential informant was associated in any way with the case against Burgess, or that Gilliam ever lied, or even misrepresented anything, about investigations or arrests. Consequently, the information did not tend to show bias or motive to misrepresent the case against Burgess.

The Court of Appeals properly determined the circuit court acted within its discretion in excluding evidence regarding Gilliam's removal from the NET as irrelevant

---

<sup>9</sup>It should be noted everything in the proffered records was inadmissible hearsay.

and unduly prejudicial. Therefore, it should be affirmed on this issue.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits Burgess' conviction should be affirmed.